RECEIVED

12-12-2017

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2016AP000883-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

JAMAL L. WILLIAMS,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District I, Affirming a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Timothy G. Dugan Presiding, and the Order Denying Postconviction Relief, the Honorable Ellen R. Brostrom Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

ISSUE PRESENTED

At his sentencing hearing for a single charge of attempted armed robbery as a party to the crime, Mr. Williams was given an opportunity to stipulate to the restitution in accordance with Wis. Stat. § 973.20(13)(c). (73:17). Counsel for Mr. Williams declined to stipulate and instead argued that the proposed restitution was not legally proper under the circumstances. (73:17). The circuit court agreed with Mr. Williams' legal argument and found that he was not liable for restitution. (73:26); (App. 149). However, the court asserted that his refusal to "join in on that also reflects your lack of remorse under the circumstances, and I'm certainly considering that." (73:26); (App. 149).

This case presents three questions:

- 1) Is a defendant's challenge to a proposed restitution order an improper sentencing factor?
- 2) If so, did the sentencing court actually rely on Mr. Williams' decision to challenge the restitution order in imposing a sentence?
- 3) If the sentencing court improperly relied on Mr. Williams' decision to challenge the restitution, has the State met their burden of proving that this error was harmless?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

By granting review, this Court has deemed both oral argument and publication to be appropriate.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

<u>Underlying Offense and Law Enforcement Investigation</u>

On April 25, 2013, R.W and B.P. were on the move in R.W.'s car, looking to sell some marijuana. (2:2). In addition to R.W. and B.P., R.W.'s three-year old child was also in the car. (2:2). R.W. was driving. (2:2). B.P. was on the phone, trying to nail down a location with their potential buyer, later identified as Mr. Williams. (2:2). R.W. ultimately parked in the area of 13th and Nash, on Milwaukee's north side. (2:2). Shortly after arriving at the meeting point, B.P. got out of the car and placed a scale on the residential sidewalk so that he could begin measuring out a sale-size quantity of marijuana. (2:2).

Apparently unknown to B.P. and R.W., Mr. Williams had not come alone. (2:2). Rather, he was accompanied by his brother, Tousani Tatum, who had very different plans. (2:2). Mr. Tatum was armed with a handgun. (2:2). While they were waiting for B.P. to arrive, Mr. Tatum told Mr. Williams that he planned to turn the drug deal into an armed robbery. (2:2). Before Mr. Williams could talk his brother out of it, B.P. arrived on the scene. (2:2). Mr. Tatum then got out of the car and approached B.P. with his gun in hand. (2:2). Mr. Williams also got out and began walking toward B.P. (2:2).

Mr. Tatum apparently reached B.P. first and put his gun to B.P.'s neck, demanding drugs and money. (2:2). B.P. broke away from Mr. Tatum and began running. (2:2). While B.P. was running, Mr. Tatum demanded that he stop and give him the pair of designer glasses B.P. was wearing. (2:2).

Shots rang out. (2:2). The sound of a crashing vehicle followed. (2:2). B.P. ran back in the direction of R.W.'s car. (2:2). R.W., who had been fatally wounded, had crashed the

car. (2:2). He died shortly after help arrived. (2:1-2). His daughter was unharmed and was removed from the scene by a "Good Samaritan." (2:2).

Following an investigation, Milwaukee police arrested Mr. Williams. (2:2). He admitted that he had arranged to buy marijuana from B.P. and that he was present during the armed robbery. (2:2). Mr. Williams told police that he helped Mr. Tatum flee the scene after his brother shot B.P. (2:2). He also told police that Mr. Tatum said he fired the gun because B.P. ran. (2:2).

As a result, Mr. Williams was charged with felony murder. (2:1). An amended information was later filed that amended the charge to party to a crime of first-degree reckless homicide while armed and attempted armed robbery. (19).

Plea and Sentencing

Mr. Williams ultimately resolved this matter by pleading guilty to attempted armed robbery as a party to the crime. (72:2; 72:7). In exchange for his plea, the State agreed to recommend substantial prison time with the length left to the sentencing court's discretion. (72:4). With respect to restitution, the State ultimately asserted at the sentencing hearing "and I don't know, we're going to have a little battle over restitution, but the defendant, if there is restitution, has to agree to pay that if it's reasonable." (73:3).

The parties adjourned the sentencing so that a presentence investigation (PSI) could be prepared. (72:15). The presentence writer's "Assessment and Impression" statement faulted Mr. Williams for a perceived lack of remorse and self-centeredness. (31). The writer recommended

between 10 to 12.5 years of initial confinement followed by 7.5 to 10 years of extended supervision. (31).

At sentencing, the State followed through on the agreement and recommended a substantial prison sentence. (73:10). As a basis for its sentencing recommendation, the State referenced the PSI writer's belief that Mr. Williams was not remorseful. (73:6). The State, on behalf of R.W.'s family, also requested \$794 in restitution for R.W.'s burial expenses. (73:9).

Defense counsel asked the court to consider imposing a prison term of three years initial confinement and three years extended supervision. (73:17). Counsel disputed the prosecutor and PSI writer's view that Mr. Williams lacked remorse:

> I just want to take a minute to disagree strongly with both the prosecutor as well as the conclusion of the PSI writer regarding my client's, as the PSI writer says, atrocious lack of remorse.

> I think that is completely wrong in this case. My client throughout this case has expressed to me remorse for everyone involved, and I – I guess I take issue that because he is thinking about his brother has thrown away his adult life, his mother and his son that somehow that does not reflect his remorse also for [R.W.'s fiancée], [R.W.'s] father and for [R.W.'s] daughter, and, in fact, on page four of the PSI the writer states, "He did have remorse thinking about the little girl who saw her father die [and] [R.W's] father who no longer has a son," [...].

(73:13-14).

¹ See Wis. Stat. § 973.20(13)(b).

In his allocution, Mr. Williams told the court:

First of all, I take full responsibility for my actions and what took place April 25th. I apologize to the family even if they don't want to accept it. I apologize for the little girl, [L.W.], that was her father. I know seeing her father die in front of her at that age did somethin' to her, and I take full responsibility for everything I've done, and then I apologize to the mother and the father for losing their son.

I wish that I just – It was never supposed to happen like that. I ain't – I ain't sugarcoating or taking it off my participation, but I do take full responsibility.

I feel bad. I've been feelin' bad for this whole year. For something over a drug deal, somebody lost their life, somebody lost their father, somebody lost their son and somebody lost their grandson. I ain't trying to make myself sound better even though I'm — I'm going to prison, losing my son too, but she lost her father forever. So I just want to apologize to her and her family and the mother and father. I feel remorce [sic] for everything I've done. Thank you.

(73:18-19).

Defense counsel, consistent with the State's remark at the outset of sentencing, disputed the State's restitution request, arguing:

Well, again my client pled guilty to attempted armed robbery of [B.P.]. Again I don't believe that the shooting was foreseeable by him, and I would argue that it's a separate transaction and he should not be held accountable for that – that \$794. I think that should be borne by his brother solely.

 $(73:17-18).^2$

The circuit court, the Honorable Timothy Dugan presiding, sentenced Mr. Williams to a ten-year initial confinement term, followed by seven-and-a-half years of extended supervision. (73:28); (App. 152). The court found the offense very serious, given "the nature of the crime, the outcome in this particular instance and [Mr. Williams'] involvement." (73:20); (App. 144). The court noted that Mr. Williams had set up the drug deal and knew that Mr. Tatum had brought a gun along. (73:20); (App. 144). Instead of calling the whole thing off, however, he assisted in the robbery by "call[ing] over to [B.P.]" (73:20); (App. 144). The court also noted that after the shooting, Mr. Williams did not seek help but instead drove away with Mr. Tatum. (73:20-21); (App. 144-145). With regard to Mr. Williams' character, the court found that his acceptance of responsibility via a guilty plea "was certainly strategic." (73:21); (App. 145). The court noted that Mr. Williams had numerous prior contacts with the juvenile and criminal justice systems. (73:21-23) (App. 145-147). The court also noted the PSI writer's belief that Mr. Williams was not remorseful:

The agent's assessment – She's somebody who has worked with you, was hopefully thinking that you were turning your life around – notes that you aren't remorseful, that your focus is upon you, your family, your brother.

(73:25); (App. 149). On the positive side, the court noted that Mr. Williams had a high school diploma, read at a nine-and-a-half grade level, and had taken some college classes. (73:24); (App. 148).

² According to the PSI, Mr. Tatum had already been ordered to pay an identical restitution amount. (31).

The court reasoned that given all these factors, probation would unduly depreciate the seriousness of the offense. (73:25); (App. 149). It also concluded that Mr. Williams had rehabilitative needs that could only be addressed in a structured, confined setting. (73:25); (App. 149). The court then proceeded to impose conditions of extended supervision and addressed the restitution issue. (73:26-28); (App. 150-152). Regarding restitution, the court agreed with defense counsel that Mr. Williams was not legally responsible for R.W.'s funeral expenses. (73:26); (App. 150). However, the court also concluded that his refusal to stipulate to the restitution claim indicated a lack of remorse. (73:26); (App. 150). In this regard, the court stated:

I don't think I have authority to order the restitution. Had you been convicted of the felony murder, party to a crime, certainly yes, but the nature of itself, the nature of the attempt armed robbery doesn't justify the restitution or give me authority, and I think the fact that you're not willing to join in on that also reflects your lack of remorse under the circumstances, and I'm certainly considering that.

(73:26); (App. 150). Shortly after this statement, the court imposed a sentence of ten years of initial confinement and seven-and-a-half years of extended supervision. (73:28); (App. 152).

Postconviction Proceedings

Postconviction, Mr. Williams sought resentencing on the grounds that the court improperly considered his "refusal" to stipulate to restitution which he did not legally owe. (47:1, 12-14). On August 4, 2015, the circuit court, the Honorable Ellen R. Brostrom now presiding, issued a written decision and order denying resentencing, finding that the sentencing court's remarks regarding Mr. Williams' refusal to stipulate

to the restitution claim simply "reflected the lack of remorse that the court was already considering." (53:7); (App. 140). The postconviction court thus concluded that "[t]he court did not rely on [Mr. Williams'] failure to stipulate to restitution when imposing sentence." (53:7); (App. 140). The court also held that even if the sentencing court had relied on Mr. Williams' failure to stipulate to restitution, any error would be harmless, as "the court had more than an ample basis to conclude that [Williams] was not remorseful." (53:7); (App. 140).

Proceedings in the Court of Appeals

Mr. Williams pursued his resentencing claim in the Court of Appeals, arguing that he was entitled to resentencing as a result of the circuit court's reliance on an improper sentencing factor. In response, the State conceded that the circuit court had in fact relied on Mr. Williams' unwillingness to stipulate to restitution in its sentencing explication. (State's COA Response Br. at 8). The State asserted, however, that using "unwillingness to pay restitution as an indication of [Mr. Williams'] lack of remorse" was not improper, and that, even if the circuit court improperly relied on that fact, the error was harmless. (State's COA Response Br. at 2; 10).

The Court of Appeals denied relief. *State v. Williams*, 2017 WI App 46, 377 Wis.2d 247, 900 N.W.2d 310. (App. 101-131). The Court of Appeals found that the circuit court's remarks did not refer to Mr. Williams' specific failure to stipulate to restitution, but that the court was instead using that example as part of a larger point regarding his overall lack of remorse. *Id.*, ¶17. (App. 110). The Court of Appeals concluded that Mr. Williams had failed to prove actual reliance because "this factor did not form part of the basis for Williams' sentence." *Id.*, ¶16. (App. 110). The Court of

Appeals therefore denied the request for resentencing. Id., ¶1. (App. 103).

This Court subsequently granted Mr. Williams' petition for review.³

ARGUMENT

- I. The Circuit Court Erroneously Exercised its Discretion When It Relied on Mr. Williams' Challenge to a Proposed Restitution Order in Fashioning its Sentence.
 - A. Legal principles and standard of review.

The Wisconsin legislature has "vested a discretion in the sentencing judge, which must be exercised on a rational and explainable basis." *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis.2d 263, 276, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971). However, that discretion has limits: "It flies in the face of reason and logic, as well as the basic precepts of our American ideals, to conclude that the legislature vested unbridled authority in the judiciary when it so carefully spelled out the duties and obligations of the judges in all other aspects of criminal proceedings." *Id.* Accordingly, it is a well-settled principle that appellate courts retain the authority to review whether or not discretion has been appropriately exercised. *Id.*; *State v. Harris*, 2010 WI 79, ¶30, 326 Wis.2d 685, 786 N.W.2d 409.

"Discretion is erroneously exercised when a sentencing court imposes its sentence based on or in actual reliance upon clearly irrelevant or improper factors. *Harris*,

³ This Court also granted the State's petition regarding the DNA surcharge issue, which will be addressed in Mr. Williams' response brief.

2010 WI 79, ¶ 30.⁴ An improper sentencing factor is one that is "totally irrelevant or immaterial to the type of decision to be made." *Elias v. State*, 93 Wis. 2d 278, 282, 286 N.W.2d 559 (1980).

When a defendant claims that a court relied on an improper factor at sentencing, he must prove by clear and convincing evidence that: (1) the factor was improper; and (2) the court actually relied upon the improper factor. *Harris*, 2010 WI 79, ¶¶32-34 (citing *State v. Tiepelman*, 2006 WI 66, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1).

Whether the court "actually relied" on an improper factor at sentencing turns on whether the court gave "explicit attention" or "specific consideration" to the improper factor, such that it "formed part of the basis for the sentence." *See Tiepelman*, 2006 WI 66, ¶14 (quoting *United States ex rel. Welch v. Lane*, 738 F.2d 863, 866 (7th Cir. 1984)).

In determining whether Mr. Williams has carried his burden, this Court conducts an independent review of the record. *State v. Alexander*, 2015 WI 6, ¶25, 360 Wis.2d 292, 858 N.W.2d 662; *State v. Travis*, 2013 WI 38, ¶48, 347 Wis.2d 142, 832 N.W.2d 491. Following the case law regarding sentencing based on inaccurate information—a framework this Court relies on in assessing improper factor claims—the circuit court's postconviction statement of non-reliance is not dispositive. *Travis*, 2013 WI 38, ¶48. ("A

⁴ While this Court has been clear that reliance on inaccurate information is a constitutional due process violation, *see State v. Alexander*, 2015 WI 6, ¶18-19, 360 Wis.2d 292, 858 N.W.2d 662, the Court has not been as clear regarding the source of a defendant's right to be protected against a sentencing based on improper factors. While at least some improper factors will impinge upon due process considerations, it is not clear that all factors have that same status. *See Id.*

circuit court's after-the-fact assertion on non-reliance on allegedly inaccurate information is not dispositive of the issue of actual reliance.").

Independent review is also appropriate here because in this case the postconviction court did not preside over the sentencing proceedings. The postconviction court was thus in no better a position than this Court to determine whether the sentencing court actually relied on an improper factor in sentencing Mr. Williams. As such, any postconviction assertions of non-reliance should not be entitled to deference. *Cf. State v. Tobatto*, 2016 WI App 28, ¶14, 368 Wis. 2d 300, 878 N.W.2d 701 (holding, in the context of an ineffective assistance claim, that when a postconviction court did not preside over the underlying trial, its findings of fact are reviewed *de novo*).

If the Court determines that Mr. Williams has carried his burden, resentencing will be warranted unless the State can prove that the error was harmless. *Alexander*, 2015 WI 6, ¶18.

- B. Mr. Williams' successful challenge to a proposed restitution order is an improper sentencing factor.
 - 1. Mr. Williams had a statutory and constitutional right to challenge the restitution order.

Wisconsin's restitution statute requires the sentencing court to "order the defendant to make full or partial restitution... unless the court finds substantial reason not to do so and states the reason on the record." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r). The restitution determination is a component of the general sentencing decision. *See* Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r);

State v. Pope, 107 Wis.2d 726, 729, 321 N.W.2d 359 (Ct. App. 1982); see also State v. Gallion, 2004 WI 42, ¶41, 270 Wis.2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. So long as the circuit court has legal authority to order restitution, the ultimate restitution decision is committed to the sound discretion of the circuit court. State v. Holmgren, 229 Wis.2d 358, 366, 599 N.W.2d 876 (Ct. App. 1999).⁵

However, the sentencing court must comply with the statutory framework as a prerequisite to an appropriate exercise of discretion. *State v. Dzuiba*, 148 Wis.2d 108, 118, 435 N.W.2d 258 (1989) ("When determining the amount of restitution, certain procedures must be followed."); *see also State v. Evans*, 2000 WI App 178, ¶14-15, 238 Wis.2d 411, 617 N.W.2d 220 ("Restitution is a statutory process and where, as was done in this case, a court constructs its own procedure to determine and set restitution—and that procedure is not authorized by the applicable and controlling law—the decision cannot stand.").

The statute therefore gives the defendant two options: either stipulate to a restitution summary or, in the alternative,

⁵ It has been this Court's practice to grant wide latitude to the discretionary determinations of the circuit court with respect to restitution. *See for example State v. Fernandez*, 2009 WI 29, ¶62, 316 Wis.2d 598, 764 N.W.2d 509. In that case, the defendant argued that special findings were required to award restitution to an insurance company under Wis. Stat. § 973.20(5)(d). This Court declined to adopt such a standard, instead upholding restitution because the lower court appeared "to have applied the correct legal standard and to have arrived at a logical interpretation of the facts in ordering restitution" notwithstanding the lack of any specific findings as to whether "justice" required such an award. *Id*, ¶62; *see also Id*., ¶82 (Bradley, A.W., J., *dissenting*) (faulting the majority for adopting what the dissent views as an overly deferential standard of review).

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