# **RECEIVED**

01-04-2018

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

**CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN** 

#### IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2016AP000883-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

JAMAL L. WILLIAMS,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District I, Affirming a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Timothy G. Dugan Presiding, and the Order Denying Postconviction Relief, the Honorable Ellen R. Brostrom Presiding.

## RESPONSE BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The DNA Surcharge is "Punishment," Hence, Its Imposition In This Case Violates Ex Post Facto.
  - A. Legal principles and standard of review governing Ex Post Facto challenges.

Both parties agree that the controlling legal framework is set forth by this Court in *State v. Scruggs*, 2017 WI 15, 373 Wis. 2d 312, 891 N.W.2d 786 and the United States Supreme Court in *Hudson v. United States*, 522 U.S. 93 (1997). Whether a given statute violates Ex Post Facto is a question of law reviewed *de novo*. *Scruggs*, 2017 WI 15, ¶12. Mr. Williams has the burden of proving, beyond a reasonable

doubt, that the DNA surcharge statute violates Ex Post Facto. *Id*.

The only disputed legal issue is whether the \$250 DNA surcharge, imposed in this case pursuant to Wis. Stat. \$973.046, is "punitive." In making that determination, this Court applies the "intent-effects" test. *Scruggs*, 2017 WI 15, ¶16. First, the Court examines whether the law was passed with a punitive intent. *Id*. If the law was passed with a punitive intent, "the law is considered punitive" and this Court's inquiry is concluded. *Id*.

If this Court concludes that the DNA surcharge statute does not evince a punitive intent on the part of the legislature, Mr. Williams can still prevail by proving that the statute is punitive *in effect*. *Id*. In making that determination, the Court relies on seven factors identified in *Kennedy v. Mendoza-Martinez*, 372 U.S. 144, 168-169 (1963). As framed in *Scruggs*:

The seven factors are whether: (1) the 2014 Amendment involves an affirmative disability or restraint; (2) it has historically been regarded as a punishment; (3) it comes into play only on a finding of scienter; (4) its operation will promote the traditional aims of punishment-retribution and deterrence; (5) the behavior to which the 2014 Amendment applies is already a crime; (6) an alternative purpose to which it may rationally be connected is assignable for it; and (7) it appears excessive in relation to the alternative purpose assigned.

*Scruggs*, 2017 WI 15, ¶41. While these factors provide "useful guideposts," s*ee Hudson*, 522 U.S. at 99, they are not exhaustive and no one factor is dispositive. *Scruggs*, 2017 WI 15, ¶41.

Importantly, this Court must analyze the DNA surcharge on its face, and not just with respect to its impact on Mr. Williams. *Hudson*, 522 U.S. at 100. Consideration of how the statute impacts criminal defendants generally is therefore relevant to this Court's analysis, especially since the State is seeking to overrule case law pertaining to offenders *not* in Mr. William's specific position (*Radaj* and *Elward*)). (State's Br. at 13) ("[T]his Court should confirm its holding in *Scruggs* and overrule the Court of Appeals' decision here, along with *Elward* and *Radaj*.").

## B. State of the law regarding the DNA surcharge.

In 2013, the Wisconsin legislature "dramatically expanded DNA collection in Wisconsin" through passage of 2013 Wis. Act 20. Williams, 2017 WI App 46, ¶29 (Hagedorn, J., concurring). (App. 120). The legislature proposed a sweeping new procedure for the collection of DNA samples and, at the same time, determined that the resulting costs should be borne by convicted criminal defendants. Id., ¶30. (App. 120-121). Accordingly, every individual convicted of a misdemeanor in Wisconsin is now charged \$200 per conviction and every individual convicted of a felony is charged \$250 per conviction. Id. (App. 120-121). The new per-conviction DNA surcharge is mandatory in all criminal cases. Id.<sup>3</sup> (App. 120-121). Previously, the surcharge was discretionary with respect to most felony cases and applied on a per-case, as opposed to per-conviction, basis. See Wis. Stat. § 973.046(1g) (2011-2012).4 The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> But see State v. Cox, No. 2016AP001745-CR, pending in this Court, which addresses whether the circuit court retains the ability to waive the DNA surcharge in certain circumstances.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In determining whether or not imposition of a DNA surcharge was warranted, the Court of Appeals held that a circuit court should consider factors such as whether the defendant previously provided a

surcharge was only mandatory with respect to specific felonies and misdemeanors involving sexual assaults. *See* Wis. Stat. § 973.046(1r) (2011-2012).

The statute is retroactive as it governs conduct committed before its effective date. *See Scruggs*, 2018 WI 15, ¶15 ("The State does not dispute Scruggs' contention that if the DNA surcharge is punitive, amending the statute to make mandatory what previously was discretionary is an ex post facto violation with respect to defendants who committed their offense before the effective date of the amendment.").

This new surcharge framework—which can add on hundreds, and in some cases, thousands of dollars of increased financial obligations to a defendant's judgment of conviction—has triggered numerous legal challenges in both the circuit courts and the Court of Appeals. Thus far, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals has granted relief in two specific fact situations.

In *Elward*, the defendant was convicted of fourth offense operating while intoxicated (which was at that time a misdemeanor offense) after the effective date of the DNA amendment. *Elward*, 2015 WI App 51, ¶5. However, his offense predated that effective date. *Id* He was assessed a single \$200 DNA surcharge at the time of conviction. *Id*.

No sample was subsequently collected, as under the law, the "multiphase rollout" of the new DNA testing scheme was still ongoing. *Id.*, ¶2. As a result, Mr. Elward paid the surcharge, but was not required to provide a DNA sample. *Id.* Accordingly, the Court of Appeals concluded that "the timing

sample or created a DNA cost. *State v. Cherry*, 2008 WI App 80, ¶10, 312 Wis.2d 203, 752 N.W.2d 393.

- 6 -

of Elward's offense with relation to the rollout of the statutory scheme made the \$200 DNA surcharge a fine instead of a fee." *Id.*, ¶7. He was required to pay a DNA surcharge but "never had to submit to a [DNA] test." *Id.* "The State received money for nothing." *Id.* Because the DNA surcharge was disassociated from its regulatory goal, imposition of the mandatory DNA surcharge violated the defendant's rights under Ex Post Facto. *Id.* 

The Court of Appeals also granted relief in *Radaj*, which involved a defendant who committed numerous property offenses prior to the amendment's effective date. *Radaj*, 2015 WI App 50, ¶2. He pleaded guilty to four felonies after the effective date of the new surcharge law, and the court imposed a total of \$1,000 in DNA surcharges. *Id.*, ¶¶1-3.

The Court of Appeals assumed, but did not hold, "that the legislature's intent was non-punitive." *Id.*, ¶22. As applied to Mr. Radaj, however, the court concluded that the law clearly had a punitive effect. *Id*. The court found that three of the *Mendoza-Martinez*, factors (as stated in *State v. Rachel*, 2002 WI 81, 254 Wis.2d 215, 647 N.W.2d 762) were "closely related and of particular importance": whether the DNA surcharge promoted the traditional aims of punishment, whether it was rationally connected to a non-punitive purpose, and whether the surcharge was excessive in relation to that purpose. *Id.*, ¶24-25. The "critical inquiry is whether there is a rational connection between the amount of the fee and the non-punitive activities the fee is intended to fund, or if instead the amount of the fee is excessive in relation to that purpose." *Id.*, ¶24. "If there is no rational connection and the fee is excessive in relation to the activities it is intended to fund, then the fee in effect serves as an additional criminal fine, that is, the fee is punitive." *Id*, ¶25.

The Court of Appeals in *Radaj* found no apparent reason "why the cost of the DNA-analysis-related activities under Wis. Stat. §§ 973.046 and 165.77 increases with the number of convictions." Id., ¶30. Importantly, the court construed the purpose of the surcharge narrowly—"the DNA surcharge is used to cover the cost of the DNA 'analysis' of the biological specimen that the circuit court must order a defendant to provide at the time the court orders the surcharge." Id., ¶31. The Court of Appeals could not understand why that cost would increase with each subsequent conviction. *Id*. Importantly, even if the "[o]ther costs that may come later" are considered (the broad suite of DNA-related activities related to the databank as a whole), the Court of Appeals could "conceive of no reason why such costs would generally increase in proportion to the number of convictions, let alone in direct proportion to the number of convictions." *Id.*, ¶32.

Thus, under *Radaj*, defendants convicted of multiple felony offenses stemming from pre-amendment conduct are subject to the circuit court's discretionary determination of whether to impose a single \$250 DNA surcharge in those cases, as governed by the discretionary framework set out in the prior version of the statute and discussed in *Cherry*. *Id.*, ¶38.

Subsequently, this Court issued its first decision relating to the DNA surcharge in *Scruggs*, which concerned retroactive imposition of a single \$250 DNA surcharge. *Scruggs*, 2017 WI 15, ¶1. Notably, in *Scruggs*, the State did not seek to overturn *Elward* or *Radaj*. *Id*., ¶35 n. 8. This Court therefore issued a limited holding that retroactive imposition of a single \$250 DNA surcharge when the defendant has not previously been assessed a surcharge is not a violation of Ex Post Facto. *Id*. ¶50.

This Court determined, as a matter of statutory construction, that the legislature did not have a punitive intent when it drafted the law. *Id.*, ¶¶17-38. In addition, this Court concluded that Ms. Scruggs had failed to prove that the change in the statute from a discretionary to mandatory surcharge for a single felony conviction committed before the effective date of the 2014 amendment had a punitive effect. It found that there was a rational relationship between Ms. Scruggs' \$250 DNA surcharge and the "increased burden on the DOJ in collecting, analyzing, and maintaining the additional DNA samples." *Id.*, ¶¶47-49.

In sum, the current law governing DNA surcharges is:

- If a defendant committed a single misdemeanor before the effective date of the DNA amendment and was convicted before the DNA rollout was complete, their \$200 DNA surcharge is an Ex Post Facto violation. (*Elward*). <sup>5</sup>
- If a defendant committed a single felony before the effective date of the DNA amendment and was convicted after that effective date, their \$250 DNA surcharge is not an Ex Post Facto violation as long as they have not previously been assessed a DNA surcharge. (*Scruggs*).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In an unpublished but citable decision, *see* Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(b), the Court of Appeals has also rejected a due process challenge to the imposition of a DNA surcharge for a misdemeanant when no sample was ordered. *See State v. Manteuffel*, No. 2016AP96-CR, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. December 6, 2016). (App. 152-158).

- However, if the defendant committed a single felony before the effective date of the DNA amendment and was convicted after that effective date, but had previously been assessed a surcharge, their \$250 DNA surcharge is an Ex Post Facto violation. (Williams).
- If a defendant committed multiple felonies before the effective date of the 2014 amendment but was convicted of multiple felonies after that effective date, the circuit court is required to apply the prior discretionary DNA surcharge statute. (*Radaj*).

The State now seeks to overturn *Elward* and *Radaj* and also requests reversal of the Court of Appeals' determination in *Williams*. (State's Br. at 13).

## C. The DNA surcharge statute is punitive in effect.

In 2017, this Court analyzed the DNA surcharge statute in *Scruggs* and determined that it did not evince a punitive intent. *Id.*, ¶38. The State believes that this Court should refuse to reconsider that decision, invoking the principle of *stare decisis*. (State's Brief at 13). Mr. Williams is aware that this Court is being asked to overrule that precedent in another DNA case, *see* Opening Brief of Defendant-Appellant in *State of Wisconsin v. Tydis Trinard Odom*, No. 2015AP002525-CR, at 22.

Mr. Williams agrees with the argument in *Odom* that this Court should reconsider its determination regarding the DNA surcharge's punitive intent in light of the evidence presented by Mr. Odom. However, Mr. Williams chooses to focus herein on the statute's punitive *effect*, which has not been as rigorously scrutinized by this Court. This issue is ripe

for review in this case because the Court's analysis of the statute's *effect* in *Scruggs* is more limited and appears to have rested primarily on a conclusion that Ms. Scruggs failed to carry her burden of proof. *Id.*, ¶49. Mr. Williams is therefore asking this Court to reassess the statute's *effect* in light of the arguments and authorities herein intended to carry his burden of proof with respect to this second prong of the intent-effects inquiry.

Regardless of the legislature's intent, it is very clear that the statute has had an indisputably punitive effect on criminal defendants. Accordingly, this Court should hold that the statute "is so punitive in effect as to transform the \$250 DNA surcharge into a criminal penalty." *Scruggs*, 2017 WI 15, ¶39. That conclusion is supported by a careful analysis of the relevant *Mendoza-Martinez* factors:

1. The DNA surcharge imposes an affirmative disability or restraint.

In determining whether the DNA surcharge statute imposes an affirmative disability or restraint, this Court must ask "how the effects of the [statute] are felt by those subject to it." *Smith v. Doe*, 538 U.S. 84, 100 (2003). In *Scruggs*, this Court flatly dismissed any argument with respect to the first factor, concluding that, "the surcharge is nonpunitive because it does not impose an affirmative disability or restraint, in contrast to imprisonment." *Scruggs*, 2017 WI 15, ¶42. The State therefore takes the position that the surcharge is nonpunitive in effect because it "imposes a monetary fee only." (State's Brief at 17).

However, the State ignores how the "effects of the [statute] are felt by those subject to it." *See Smith*, 538 U.S. at 100. As Justice Abrahamson pointed out in her dissent in *Scruggs*:

The effect of the mandatory DNA surcharge statute should be evaluated in the context of a criminal justice system that exacts a serious toll on criminal defendants. Collateral consequences already burden many aspects of a defendant's daily life, such as limiting employment and housing options. Persons sentenced for a misdemeanor or felony in Wisconsin face up to 238 collateral consequences. And, on top of this, criminal justice debt is stacking up for many defendants at a staggering rate. Collateral consequences and criminal justice debt appear to be leading criminal offenders into a downward spiral of debt and recidivism.

Scruggs, 2017 WI 15, ¶81 (Abrahamson, J., dissenting). A conclusion that the imposition of DNA surcharges does not impose a disability or restraint ignores the very real circumstances faced by criminal defendants across this State as a result of the "onerous" DNA surcharge framework. See Radaj, 2015 WI 50, ¶4.

In 2015, the legislature passed Act 355, which increased the authority of the Department of Corrections (Department) to determine the percentage of inmate funds utilized to satisfy court-ordered financial obligations. 2015 Wisconsin Act 355.<sup>6</sup> As a result, the Department now collects at least 50%—and sometimes as much as 100%—of an inmate's wages and other financial resources, including money sent by family members. *See* Bill Lueders, *Lock 'em up, take their money*, ISTHMUS, Feb. 16, 2017, *available at* https://isthmus.com/news/news/state-prisons-ramp-up-deductions-from-inmates/.

Inmates depend on those funds to pay for "incidentals like deodorant, shampoo, lotion, writing materials, envelopes, postage, clothing items like gym shoes, and any non-provided

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2015/related/acts/355

food items or snacks." *Id.*<sup>7</sup> As Judge Hagedorn's concurrence in *Williams* makes clear, the DNA surcharge is only one such financial obligation. *Williams*, 2017 WI App 46, ¶33 (Hagedorn, J., *concurring*). (App. 122-126). However, the DNA surcharge arguably has one of the most severe effects, as it imposes a hefty per-conviction (as opposed to per-case) financial obligation that must be paid no matter how many times the inmate may have been previously assessed a surcharge.

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